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12. What Accommodations Should Be Provided Outside the 
Classroom or the School? 
 

ccommodations need to be provided not only in the 
academic setting, but in nonacademic settings that are part 
of the school environment as well. This includes 

extracurricular activities, field trips, or similar activities. These 
accommodations should also be documented in a Section 504 
Plan or other written education plan. 
 

12.1 Are students with diabetes entitled to participate in 
extracurricular activities, field trips, or similar activities? 

Yes. All programs or activities of a school are subject to Section 504 and the ADA. The 
non-discrimination obligation under Section 504 and the Americans with Disabilities Act 
applies to all school programs and activities. A student with diabetes may not be excluded 
from extracurricular activities, field trips, or similar activities due to the student’s disability. 
Students with disabilities are entitled to accommodations and services they need to 
participate in extracurricular activities, including athletics, as long as those accommodations 
will not fundamentally alter the activity or athletic program.  
 

Notes 
Section 504 regulation requires equal opportunity for students to participate in 

nonacademic and extracurricular services and activities. 34 C.F.R. § 104.37(a) Students with 
diabetes who are eligible for services pursuant to Section 504 or the ADA must “be allowed 
to participate in non-academic and extracurricular activities, including field trips and other 
activities, to the maximum extent appropriate to the needs of that student.” Elkhart (IN) 
Community Sch. Corp., Complaint No. 05-00-1026, 34 IDELR 13 (OCR 2000). Students must 
be equally and equitably treated. Plymouth-Canton Community Schs., Complaint No. 15-99-1113 
(OCR 1999) (complaint that student was not allowed to treat herself for low blood sugar 
during cheerleading practice resolved by requirement that cheerleaders be treated equally and 
equitably with respect to standards governing tryouts, practice attendance, and summer 
camp attendance). The key inquiry is whether the student has a full and equal opportunity to 
participate in the sport or activity. In Schaffer (CA) Union Elementary Sch. Dist., Complaint No. 
09-06-1412, 107 LRP 61308 (OCR 2007), a parent alleged that the student’s volleyball coach 
discouraged the student from attending away volleyball games because the coach was 
uncomfortable providing diabetes care. However, the coach denied making these statements, 
and evidence showed that the student was able to fully participate in volleyball. OCR held 
that mere expressions of discomfort about providing care were not enough to prove a 504 
violation where the student was ultimately able to participate. 

Students are entitled to an individualized assessment of their ability to participate and 
need for accommodations. New York City (NY) Bd. of Educ., Complaint No. 02-89-1128, 16 
EHLR 455 (OCR 1989) (Section 504 violation found where school, without evaluation, 
excluded student with diabetes from participating in field trips). OCR has stated: “A school 
district may not operate its program or activity on the basis of generalizations, assumptions, 
prejudices, or stereotypes about disability generally, or specific disabilities in particular. A 
school district also may not rely on generalizations about what students with a type of 
disability are capable of.” U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights, Dear 
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Colleague Letter (Jan. 25, 2013) at 5 (available at http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/
letters/colleague-201301-504.html).  

Where all students are eligible to participate in an activity (as, for example, with many 
school field trips), the student must be given accommodations needed to participate. Where 
the school imposes rules or standards for who can participate in an activity (such as with 
most athletic teams), a student with diabetes desiring to participate must be able, with or 
without accommodations, to meet these requirements.  

While anti-discrimination laws forbid unequal treatment of people with disabilities, they 
do not guarantee the right to play a particular sport. Students trying out for athletic teams, 
for example, need not be selected if they do not possess sufficient athletic skill, as judged by 
the same standards applied to others. See Cobb County (GA) Sch. Dist., Complaint No. 04-13-
1990, 114 LRP 32419 (OCR 2014) (evidence showed that student was not selected for 
cheerleading team based on her performance at tryouts, not because the coaches did not 
want to accommodate her diabetes); Kennewick (WA) Sch. Dist. No. 17, Complaint No. 10-11-
1027, 57 IDELR 262 (OCR 2011) (student with diabetes failed to make soccer team because 
she lacked the skill and ability shown by other players and did not work hard enough in 
practice; her tryout scores were lower than other students who made the team). Also, OCR 
found in one case where a district imposes attendance requirements that students must meet 
in order to participate in extracurricular activities, a student with diabetes must meet these 
requirements, even if attendance problems are caused by diabetes. Houghton Lake (MI) 
Community Schs., Complaint No. 15-05-1050, 45 IDELR 199 (OCR 2005) (school did not 
violate Section 504 by enforcing facially neutral policy that students could not participate in 
extracurricular activities on days they were absent from school, even where student missed 
school due to a diabetes-related appointment).  

 
12.2 Must a school provide coverage by trained diabetes personnel 

while students participate in extracurricular activities, field 
trips, or similar activities?  

School districts must provide care to students attending all school activities, including 
extracurricular activities, afterschool events, field trips, and even overnight trips. These 
situations can be challenging because the school nurse or other staff person who regularly 
provides care during the school day may not be present during the activity, but the school is 
responsible for making alternate arrangements where necessary. Failure to provide coverage 
by trained diabetes personnel at extracurricular activities will exclude many students with 
diabetes from participating in these activities for safety reasons, just as failure to provide 
coverage during the school day would exclude these students from school.  
 

Notes 
A student may not be excluded from participation in a school activity because no one is 

available to provide care. See Prince George’s County (MD) Pub. Schs., Complaint No. 03-14-
1025, 114 LRP 36274 (OCR 2014) (resolution agreement required district to review and 
revise its policies relating to field trips and extracurricular and nonacademic activities to 
ensure that students with diabetes were not excluded); Huntsville (AL) City Sch. Dist., 
Complaint No. 04-14-1014, 114 LRP 36268 (OCR 2014) (student was effectively denied 
opportunity to participate in afterschool activities because district had no nurse to provide 
care; resolution agreement required that care be provided by nurses or trained staff); Academy 
of Waterford (MI), Complaint No. 15-11-1181, 112 LRP 15747 (OCR 2011) (district violated 

http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/letters/colleague-201301-504.html
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Section 504 by excluding student from an afterschool softball activity because no staff were 
available to provide care).  

A district may be required to provide medication administration services by school 
personnel during a field trip. Parents may not be required to attend the trip to provide care. 
(See Question 12.4) OCR has stated that where a student receives accommodations during 
the regular school day that may be needed during extracurricular activities or athletic events, 
the school generally may not refuse to provide them at these events. In an example included 
as part of a “Dear Colleague” letter on participation of students with disabilities in athletic 
activities, OCR considered the example of a student who receives blood glucose monitoring 
and insulin administration services during the school day from school staff. The school, 
however, refuses to provide these services during an extracurricular gymnastics club in which 
the student participates. OCR stated that the school would violate Section 504 under these 
facts because the student needs these services to participate in the activity, and since the 
district must provide these service during the school day to comply with 504, providing them 
during an extracurricular activity would not represent a fundamental alteration. U.S. 
Department of Education Office for Civil Rights, Dear Colleague Letter (Jan. 25, 2013) at 10-
11 (available at http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/letters/colleague-201301-
504.html). See also Calcasieu Parish (LA) Sch. Bd., Complaint No. 06041354, 44 IDELR 49 
(OCR 2005) (school district agreed that insulin administration is a related service that must 
be provided during field trips if necessary); Orange County (FL) Sch. Dist., Complaint No. 04-
04-1239, 105 LRP 12227 (OCR 2004) (district was required to provide diabetes care during 
field trips, as they were part of the school’s educational program, even though there was no 
nurse assigned to the school). See also Waterbury (CT) Sch. Dist., Complaint No. 01-07-1280, 
51 IDELR 198 (OCR 2008) (Section 504 violated where no licensed professional was 
available to administer glucagon and the adults attending the trip, who were responsible for 
providing diabetes care, were unaware of or confused by the provisions of the 504 plan and 
the child’s needs); Westwood (NJ) Reg’l Sch. Dist., Complaint No. 02-06-1363, 49 IDELR 78 
(OCR 2007) (district’s policy did not violate section 504 where district promised to ensure 
that an individual capable of administering glucagon, either the school nurse or the parent, 
would attend all field trips, and where neither could attend the trip would be rescheduled); 
Bradley County (TN) Sch. Dist., Complaint No. 04-04-1247, 43 IDELR 44 (OCR 2004) (school 
had “committed to providing the Student with a diabetes care provider during lunchtime, 
outside activities and field trips.”)  

This obligation can extend beyond traditional field trips and extracurriculars to child 
care and camp programs held outside of school hours. See Conejo Valley (CA) Unified Sch. 
Dist., Complaint No. 09-08-1278, 109 LRP 54727 (OCR 2009) (district violated 504 by 
refusing to train any staff at a summer camp sponsored by the district on school grounds to 
administer insulin or operate the student’s insulin pump; staff would only observe the 
student for symptoms and contact the parents or 911); Cape May County (NJ) Technical Sch. 
Dist., Complaint No. 02-09-1019, 110 LRP 19930 (OCR 2009) (district was required to 
provide medication administration services during school’s child development program, 
which was open before and after regular school hours and on school holidays, when school 
nurse was not on site; simply having staff call the parent or 911 when the student appeared 
to need medication was not sufficient). This does not necessarily mean that a nurse will have 
to attend a camp or overnight trip, however. Wayne Township Bd. of Educ., 106 LRP 2442 (N.J. 
State Educational Agency 2001) (district did not have to provide a nurse to accompany a 
high school student on an overnight band trip; district agreed to provide a trained adult to 
supervise the student’s use of an insulin pump, and none of the parent’s medical 
documentation demonstrated that a nurse needed to attend). 

http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/letters/colleague-201301-504.html
http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/letters/colleague-201301-504.html


Legal Rights of Students with Diabetes 

108 

Training should be provided to coaches and other staff who supervise extracurricular 
activities, just as to teachers and other staff. See Cobb County (GA) Sch. Dist., Complaint No. 
04-13-1990, 114 LRP 32419 (OCR 2014) (OCR criticized school district for not providing 
training in diabetes to cheerleading coaches, even though 504 plan required training of staff 
and mentioned the student’s need for diabetes care during cheerleading); Springdale (AR) Sch. 
Dist., Complaint No. 06-08-1349, 109 LRP 4346 (OCR 2008) (resolution agreement required 
volleyball coach to be trained to recognize hypoglycemia and administer glucagon); see also 
Gettysburg Area Sch. Dist., Case 1984/02-03, 103 LRP 9599 (Pa. State Educational Agency 
2003) (teachers and staff who were to be with the child when away from the school building 
had to be trained to recognize problems relating to diabetes “as they are truly the first line of 
defense against problems” and “are the ones who can prevent problems or at least mitigate 
the extent of the severity of the problem.”)  

While other parents will often be present during field trips as chaperones, OCR has held 
that a school may not escape its obligations under 504 by having the parent of a student with 
diabetes agree that the chaperone parent will provide care, especially where the chaperone 
does not volunteer to do so and is not trained in diabetes care. Clovis (CA) Unified Sch. Dist., 
Complaint No. 09-08-1395, 52 IDELR 167 (OCR 2009). Where chaperones do volunteer to 
provide care, they should be provided with appropriate training. Harney County (OR) Pub. 
Schs., Complaint No. 10-14-1327, 115 LRP 6273 (OCR 2014) (school district revised policies 
to require that chaperones on field trips receive training on a student’s medical needs prior 
to the trip). 

The inability to find a nurse or other trained person to attend a field trip or other activity 
on short notice will not absolve a district from liability where the district had notice of the 
need and should have been able to locate someone. In Waterbury (CT) Sch. Dist., Complaint 
No. 01-07-1280, 51 IDELR 198 (OCR 2008), the school failed to take any steps to find a 
trained person until one hour before the field trip, and the parent ultimately agreed to attend. 
OCR held that the district violated 504, and could not escape liability by pointing to a 
provision in the student’s 504 plan which permitted the district to ask the parent to attend if 
it could not find coverage for an unplanned trip, since this trip had been planned in advance 
and steps should have been taken to find appropriate personnel. However, where the 
parent’s actions put the school district in the position of having to find someone to provide 
care at the last minute, it may be reasonable to exclude the student from participating if an 
appropriate person is not available. See Oxford Hills (ME) Sch. Dist., Complaint No. 01-11-
1002, 57 IDELR 83 (OCR 2011) (no violation even though student was forced to miss a 
field trip, where parent had initially agreed to attend and provide care but backed out at the 
last minute, leaving the district unable to find a substitute provider); Denton (TX) Indep. Sch. 
Dist., Complaint No. 06-07-1334, 50 IDELR 200 (OCR 2007) (district did not discriminate 
in barring student from field trip where parent initially agreed to attend to provide care but 
backed out the night before the trip; district was permitted to exclude the student because no 
appropriate person was available to attend and because the recently diagnosed student’s 
fluctuating blood glucose levels posed a safety risk without appropriate care). Cf. Half Hollow 
Hills (NY) Central Sch. Dist., Complaint No. 02-04-1136, 44 IDELR 131 (OCR 2005) 
(district’s efforts were reasonable where student was able to attend four of five field trips 
with appropriate care present, and for the fifth trip where regular nurse was unavailable 
district attempted to find a substitute nurse and ultimately offered to send a trained 
paraprofessional with the student, an offer the parents refused). 

See Question 9.12 for additional information about training for school personnel. 
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12.3 Is the school required to provide coverage by trained diabetes 
personnel if a student is a spectator rather than a participant? 

No distinction is made under Section 504 or the ADA between whether a student is 
involved in an activity as a participant rather than as a spectator. Being a student spectator is 
an important and valuable activity. However, a settlement approved by OCR suggests that it 
may not consider the provision of trained diabetes personnel for student spectators to be 
required. Of course, it is still a good idea for schools to have such care available.  
 

Notes 
OCR has approved a complaint resolution where school officials agreed to provide an 

authorized diabetes care provider when a student with diabetes “is a direct participant, but 
not when that student is solely an observer or an audience member.” Buchanan County (VA) 
Pub. Schs., Case No. 11-03-1051, 103 LRP 56159 (OCR 2003).  

 
12.4 May schools require parents to attend an extracurricular 

activity, field trip, or similar activity in order for a child to 
participate? 

No. Districts may not condition student participation on parent or guardian attendance, 
unless the parents or guardians of non-disabled children are also required to attend.  
 

Notes 
OCR cautions that schools may not condition the provision of nonacademic services on 

a parent’s attendance or provision of a surrogate. OCR Senior Staff Memorandum, 17 EHLR 
1233 (OCR 1990) (Guidance on the Application of Section 504 to Noneducational Programs 
of Recipients of Federal Financial Assistance). In one case, OCR held that a district violated 
504 by repeatedly failing to provide any trained staff to give diabetes care on field trips and 
relying on parents to attend the trips or to sign a release authorizing another parent to 
provide care. OCR stated: 

 

The evidence established that in a significant number of cases, a student's 
participation in such activities was conditioned upon whether his or her 
medical services or support would be provided while attending the activity. 
Whether the medical services or support would be provided was dependent 
upon whether the student's parent was willing to undertake certain obligations 
that were additional to those of parents of non-disabled students (e.g., payment 
of a registration or other fee to attend the activity, required personal attendance 
at the activity, a willingness to permit another parent, notwithstanding any 
reluctance or adequate training, to provide necessary support or services; etc.) 
The imposition of additional expenses, time commitments, and health risks as a 
condition to District students with disabilities participating in the District's 
curriculum based field trips and non-classroom activities … serves to 
unnecessarily burden, deny, or limit the equal education and participation 
opportunities of students with disabilities. The District cannot condition a 
disabled student's participation in such activities upon the student's parents' 
willingness to accept an additional obligation or burden that is not likewise 
imposed on the parent of a non-disabled student. 
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Clovis (CA) Unified Sch. Dist., Complaint No. 09-08-1395, 52 IDELR 167 (OCR 2009); see also 
Prince George’s County (MD) Pub. Schs., Complaint No. 03-14-1025, 114 LRP 36274 (OCR 
2014) (resolution agreement required district to review and revise its policies to ensure that 
parents would not be required to attend field trips); Bighorn (WY) Sch. Dist. #2, Complaint 
No. 08-13-1165, 61 IDELR 236 (OCR 2013) (after allegations that parent was required to 
attend field trips to provide care in the nurse’s absence, resolution agreement required that 
four staff members be trained to provide care during field trips and other school activities); 
American School for the Deaf (CT), Complaint No. 01-07-1268, 108 LRP 58193 (OCR 2008) 
(school violated Section 504 by requiring parent to attend a field trip when the school nurse 
was unable to attend, rather than providing another trained medical professional); Palm Beach 
County (FL) Sch. Dist., Complaint No. 04-07-1271, 108 LRP 34606 (OCR 2007) (resolution 
agreement provided that parents would not be required or pressured to attend field trips 
with the student); Nyack (NY) Unified Sch. Dist., Complaint No. 02-04-1065, 43 IDELR 169 
(OCR 2004) (agreement to resolve complaint where evidence, though disputed, suggested 
that district required parent to attend class trip with student to provide diabetes care); Orange 
County (FL) Sch. Dist., Complaint No. 04-04-1239, 105 LRP 12227 (OCR 2004) (district 
violated 504 when it refused to provide diabetes care during field trips and required parents 
to attend by telling parents that it was their responsibility to provide all care). But where a 
district is willing to provide care during the field trip, the mere fact that a parent goes on the 
trip does not show that the school violated 504 in forcing the parent to attend. See Oxford 
Hills (ME) Sch. Dist., Complaint No. 01-11-1002, 57 IDELR 83 (OCR 2011) (district did not 
condition student participation in a field trip on the parent attending; although the parent did 
agree to attend, the district had trained the assistant principal, who was on the trip, to 
provide diabetes care); see also Waterbury (CT) Bd. Of Educ., Complaint No. 01-07-1030, 108 
LRP 60388 (OCR 2007) (where student’s IEP provided that a contract nurse would attend 
all field trips where the parent could not attend, OCR found no violation even though the 
parent expressed fears about being forced or pressured to attend). 
 

12.5 Can additional charges be imposed with respect to students 
with diabetes to cover any additional costs associated with 
their participation in extracurricular activities, field trips, or 
similar activities? 

No. Additional costs may not be imposed beyond those which are charged to non-
disabled students. 
 

Notes 
Section 504 regulations make clear that services provided to students with disabilities 

must be without cost, except for those fees that are imposed on non-disabled persons or 
their parents or guardian. 34 C.F.R. § 104.33(c)(1). OCR has also advised that students with 
disabilities may not be charged a higher cost of participating in nonacademic activities than is 
charged to non-disabled students. OCR Senior Staff Memorandum, 17 EHLR 1233 (OCR 1990) 
(Guidance on the Application of Section 504 to Noneducational Programs of Recipients of 
Federal Financial Assistance).  

Although an additional cost may not be imposed, this does not mean that children with 
disabilities may refuse to participate in fundraising or similar activities that are expected of all 
students. Some schools, for example, require participation in sales activities, car washes, and 
the like. Assuming there is no disability-related reason that a student cannot participate, they 
may be expected and required to participate just as any other student.  
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The general rule that no charges may be imposed is subject to an exception for private 
schools. Private schools may adopt an additional charge if “justified by a substantial increase 
in cost” to the school. 34 C.F.R. § 104.39(b).  
 

12.6 Does providing extra supervision for a child with a disability 
warrant exclusion from extracurricular activities, field trips, or 
similar activities? 

The need to provide extra supervision for a child with a disability generally will not 
warrant exclusion from extracurricular activities, field trips, or similar activities. 
 

Notes 
OCR has stated that “[p]roviding extra supervision to a handicapped child ordinarily will 

neither change the fundamental nature of the program or unduly burden a recipient.” OCR 
Senior Staff Memorandum, 17 EHLR 1233 (OCR 1990) (Guidance on the Application of 
Section 504 to Noneducational Programs of Recipients of Federal Financial Assistance). 
Therefore, the need for supervision or assistance simply is not justification to exclude a 
student from extracurricular activities, field trips, or similar activities. Nevertheless, a school 
has “considerable discretion … in determining what supplemental services are necessary in a 
particular case, since the Section 504 regulation provides no specific guidance.” OCR Senior 
Staff Memorandum, 17 EHLR 1233 (OCR 1990) (Guidance on the Application of Section 504 
to Noneducational Programs of Recipients of Federal Financial Assistance).  

 
12.7 Are schools required to maintain direct communications 

between school personnel and a trained medical professional 
when away from the school grounds? 

A student’s accommodation plan should include a means for direct communication 
between school personnel and qualified health care personnel, such as the school nurse, 
when the student leaves the school building or campus if the child’s condition warrants this 
accommodation. 
 

Notes 
In Gettysburg Area Sch. Dist., Case 1984/02-03, 103 LRP 9599 (Pa. State Educational 

Agency 2003), an accommodation was approved involving use of walkie-talkies when a 
student with diabetes left the school building. The particular student had hypoglycemic 
unawareness and, as a result, it was “abundantly clear … that he has very specific needs and 
that a school nurse needs to be available and in contact at all times.” Therefore, a hearing 
officer required that whenever the child left the school building, the teacher or staff member 
must have a direct connection with the school nurse. The hearing officer also held that direct 
communication with the nurse by itself was not enough to meet this student’s needs, and 
that trained personnel were also required to be present (see Question 12.2).  

 
12.8 Are accommodations required on school buses? 

The same right to accommodations exists while on school buses just as it does in school. 
It is particularly important that students who have a long bus ride to school each day have 
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access to diabetes care supplies and to emergency care while riding the bus. However, 
accommodations may be required even on short bus rides. 
 

Notes 
Accommodations are required in transportation services provided to students under 

both Section 504 and the ADA. Schools have an obligation to ensure that students receive 
adequate transportation to and from the aid, benefits, or services provided to them. 34 
C.F.R. § 104.33(c)(2) (Section 504); 20 U.S.C. § 1401(26)(B) (IDEA). Permitting students 
with diabetes to have snacks while riding on the school bus may be a reasonable 
accommodation, depending on the circumstances. Jamestown Area (PA) Sch. Dist., Complaint 
No. 03-02-1117, 37 IDELR 260 (OCR 2002) (school district agreed to require school bus 
company to inform its bus drivers that student with diabetes must be permitted snacks while 
ride on bus); Loudoun County (VA) Pub. Schs., Complaint Nos. 11-99-1003, 11-99-1064, 11-
99-1069, 102 LRP 3258 (OCR 1999). School bus drivers should also be trained in 
appropriate diabetes care (at minimum, to recognize signs and symptoms of high and low 
blood glucose levels, and to take appropriate action in emergencies). Danbury (CT) Bd. of 
Educ., Complaint No. 01-13-1115, 113 LRP 52424 (OCR 2013) (resolution agreement 
required appropriate training in diabetes care for bus driver); District of Columbia (DC) Pub. 
Schs., Complaint No. 11-12-1133, 112 LRP 50236 (OCR 2012) (resolution agreement 
required district to provide training to staff responsible for student transportation); Waterbury 
(CT) Sch. Dist., Complaint No. 01-07-1280, 51 IDELR 198 (OCR 2008) (district violated 
Section 504 by failing to implement provision in student’s 504 plan requiring it to meet with 
and train staff of transportation provider in diabetes care, and required such training as part 
of resolution agreement).  

It will generally not be necessary to provide an aide to ride the bus with a student, so 
long as the driver has been appropriately trained. In Stafford County (VA) Pub. Schs., 
Complaint No. 11-12-1071, 60 IDELR 51 (OCR 2012), OCR rejected the parent’s request 
that an aide be provided to ride the bus with the student because of concern that the student 
would otherwise not be safe. OCR noted that the district had agreed to train the bus driver 
and to allow the student to have diabetes supplies and food and drink on the bus, and found 
these provisions to be adequate. And in Menlo Park Elementary Sch. Dist., Complaint No. 
2010020281, 110 LRP 44206 (Cal. State Educational Agency 2010), a hearing officer found 
that the school district’s offer of bus transportation was adequate even though the parent 
believed the bus driver was not adequately trained for an emergency and wanted the student 
transported on the same bus as his sibling. The school nurse had trained the bus driver in all 
aspects of the student’s diabetes, and several incidents where the student had experienced 
hypoglycemia while waiting for a late bus did not demonstrate that the student would be at 
risk during the actual bus ride. 

 

 


